
Northern Inyo Hospital

April 19 2017 Regular Meeting
April 19 2017 Regular Meeting - April 19 2017 Regular Meeting

Agenda, April 19 Regular Meeting

Agenda, April 19 2017 Regular Meeting

Fiscal Dept. Policy and Procedure Approvals

Remote Deposit Service, and Sales and Use Tax Policies and Procedures
Sales and Use Tax Policy and Procedure

Nursing Department Policy and Procedure Approval

Pain Management Policy and Procedure Approval

Compliance Department Policy and Procedure Approval

Minors With Legal Authority to Consent Policy and Procedure

Hospital Wide Annual Policy and Procedure approvals

Annual Hospital Wide Policy and Procedure Approvals

Capital Budget for 2017-2018 Fiscal Year

Capital Budget for 2017-2018 Fiscal Year

NIHD Auxiliary Bylaws Review and Approval

NIHD Auxiliary Bylaws Review and Approval

Consent Agenda for April 19 2017 Regular Meeting

Financial and Statistical Reports for 2-28-17
2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring, April 2017
District Board Minutes, March 15 2017 Regular Meeting

Chief of Staff Report

Chief of Staff Report for April 19 2017 Board Meeting

....................................................................2

........12
...............................................................15

................................................16

...........................28

.......................................32

...............................................................38

.........................................................43

..........................................................50
..............................................58

.......................................63

...........................................69

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

1

http://www.tcpdf.org


2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Sales & Use Tax 

Scope: District Department: Fiscal Services 

Source: Accounting Effective Date: Not Approved Yet 

  

 

Purpose: 

To assess and pay sales and use taxes in accordance with respective jurisdictional law. 

 

Policy: 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) is in the business of providing healthcare 

services as defined in California Board of Equalization (BOE) Publication 45.  NIHD, as 

a medical service facility, is considered the consumer, rather than a retailer, of tangible 

personal property.  Sales tax is not extended to patients. 

NIHD will generally pay tax to suppliers or use tax directly to the BOE for purchase of 

property, other than for exempt purchase of medicines, medical supplies and products as 

defined in BOE Publication 45. 

 

Procedure: 

1. NIHD, the consumer, will pay sales tax directly to suppliers as defined in BOE 

Publication 45. 

2. In the event that sales tax is not collected by the supplier, NIHD will assess sales 

or use tax and pay the amount due directly to the BOE on a monthly basis.* 

3. Suppliers who do not collect sales tax will be contacted and asked to assess in all 

applicable circumstances. 

4. Use tax is to be assessed on the following: 

a. Tangible personal property in which sales tax was not paid to the supplier 

b. Sales of meals to employees, medical staff, and visitors 

c. Coin-operated vending machine sales 

d. Miscellaneous retail sales including medical records, central supplies, and 

Xerox copies 

e. Sales of fixed assets 

5. Use tax is to be paid in the jurisdiction where the consumer takes possession. 

6. Records of self-assessed sales tax, including vendor, invoice number, and total 

taxable amount, and assessed tax must be kept for a minimum of eight years. 

*California recognizes reciprocity. If tax collected by the suppliers, including out-of-state retailers, is less 

than California state and local taxes, the difference should be recorded as use tax and paid to the BOE.   

Committee Approval   Date 

Fiscal Department Managers       

Administration  

Board of Directors       

 

Responsibility for review and maintenance: 

Index Listings: 

Developed: 

Revised: 

Reviewed: 

15



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
PURPOSE: 
1. To provide for standardization of pain screening/assessment, management and 

documentation across the treatment continuum, with a particular focus on the hospital in-
patient. 

2. Assessment of pain for the non-verbal infant, child or adult must rely on behavioral and or 
physiologic parameters. 

  
POLICY:  
Pain assessment will be documented on the Admission Nursing Assessment form initially and on 
a regular basis on the unit patient care flow sheet or unit nursing record thereafter.  
 
 At a minimum, the following standards for pain assessment, treatment, and documentation will 
be followed. Additionally individual unit standards of care that pertain to pain assessment, 
management, and documentation will be followed.  
 
The same numerical scale for pain assessment will be used for each individual patient If the type 
of pain scale is changed it will be noted. 
The following scales will be used: 
 

A. Neonatal/Infant Pain Scale (NIPS)  
This scale may be used for infants less than 1 year of age.  
See addendum I 
 

B. Facial, legs, activity, cry, consolability scale (FLACC) 
This scale can be used in children ages 2 months to 7 years.   
FLACC Behavioral Pain Assessment Scale is a behavioral assessment that can be used to 
determine pain level when a child can't report his level of pain. It can be used in children 
ages 2 months to 7 years. Five categories are scored from 0 to 2. The categories are then 
totaled to obtain the child's pain score. The pain score can range from 0 to 10; the higher 
the score, the greater the pain.  
See addendum II 

C. Wong-Baker FACES Pain Rating Scale: This scale is used for adults and pediatric 
patients older than 3 year of age. The Wong-Baker FACES Pain Rating Scale can also be 
used with patients who have mild dementia or for those who are unable to understand a 
numeric pain scale.  
It is a self-report tool in which the patient points to the face that corresponds to his pain 
intensity. NIH uses the 0 to 10 scale.  
See addendum III 

 

16



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 

D. Patient Self Report of Pain: The Numeric Pain Scale may be used for patients  
5 years of age or older.  
The patient must be able to count.  
The patient reports pain severity on a 0-10 scale by associating with a numerical value or 
facial expression. 
See addendum IV 
 

E. Observational Pain Scale for Critically Ill Adults: May be used for patients who are 
unable to communicate their pain level. May be used for sedated, somnolent, sleeping, or 
cognitively impaired patients. 
See Addendum V  

 
  
STANDARDS:  
1. Patients or their representatives will be informed that they have a right to be involved in their 

pain management as stated in the Patient Bill of Rights.  This information will be included in 
the Conditions of Admission that the patient signs on admission to the hospital. 

 
2. Patients or their representatives will be instructed in the use of the pain rating scale to report 

their pain (age-appropriate, condition appropriate, and language appropriate).  The type of 
pain scale used will be documented on the patient care record. 
 

3. When possible, patients will be asked to participate in setting a comfort goal.  Pertinent 
comfort measures will be taught to the patient and family.  This information will be 
documented on the patient care record.  
 

4. The pain goal is set by the patient or nurse/or other clinical discipline for patients who are 
unable to set a goal. The goal is monitored for inpatients at a minimum of every 24 hours as 
part of the Interdisciplinary plan. 

 
Pain Screening and assessment: 
A. Screening: 

a. All patients will be screened for the presence of pain: 
i. On admission or initial patient encounter 

ii. Before and after a procedure 
iii. With a change in condition 
iv. With patient’s self report of recurring or new pain 
v. As appropriate for patient’s condition 

b. With each routine vital sign assessment. If the patient is being screened by a 
CNA, Tech or MA, only patient self-report of pain severity may be used. The 
screener will immediately report to licensed personnel using the following 
guidelines: 

i. Pain that is above the patient’s acceptable level of pain 

17



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 

ii. Any chest pain 
iii. Any new onset of pain above the patients acceptable level of pain 

 
5. Upon Admission, all patients will be asked about the presence and intensity of pain at the 

time of initial evaluation and as clinically indicated.   
6. Initial pain assessment and or new report of pain: 

A. When the patient denies pain: if the patient denies pain, document zero (0) as well as the 
patient’s acceptable pain severity level in the electronic health record. No further pain 
documentation is needed at this time. 

B. Once pain has been identified, further pain assessment must be completed by a nurse or 
physician and includes the following elements: 

a. Pain Severity is determined by the patient’s self-assessment or by alternative 
pain scales such as the FLACC or NIPS 

b. The nurse may collaborate with the family and or significant other as well as 
review suspected caused of pain to evaluate the patients’ pain. This is especially 
helpful with pain assessments of the non-communicative patient.  

c. Location The location of pain will be assessed and documented. For patients 
evaluated using the FLACC or NIPS, pain location may not be assessable. The 
RN will use knowledge about the patients’ condition, behavior and history to 
assist in pain location assessment.  

d. Acceptable severity of pain on a 0-10 scale. The patient may change the 
acceptable level at any time. Acceptable level cannot be obtained from the non-
communicative patient and may not be assessable if using any of the 
recommended scales for nonverbal patients.  

e. Additional/optional elements that should be noted during a pain assessment and 
may assist with the development of a plan of care include: 

i. Quality and Character of pain 
ii. Radiation location as appropriate 

iii. Duration and frequency of pain 
iv. Effects of pain: impact on daily functioning and associated symptoms 
v. Alleviating factors, response to past interventions, what helps decrease or 

relieve pain, usual relief measures 
vi. Aggravating factors: what increases or triggers pain 

7. Pain must always be assessed and evaluated in light of the patient’s entire clinical condition. 
Examples of scenarios that may not require additional assessment: 
A. Pain level less than or equal to patient reported acceptable severity 
B. Patient declines additional assessment or intervention 

8. Any patient declination of assessment or intervention will be documented in the health 
record. 

 
Focused re-assessment 
1. Focused pain reassessment must be completed by a nurse or trained team member as part of 

the shift assessment or treatment plan and in response to the patient’s initial assessment. The 

18



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 

team member documents in the shift assessment a minimum of every shift. The assessment is 
documented in the EHR and includes: 
A. Pain severity 
B. Pain location 
C. If possible, an acceptable severity of pain on a 0-10 scale will be used.  If a patient denies 

pain it may be documented as “denies pain”, or it may be documented as zero (0). 
A post intervention reassessment is conducted within a reasonable time frame after 
pharmacologic intervention and or other pain management interventions have occurred.  

a. After pharmaceutical intervention, the RN/LVN reassesses the patient’s response:  
Pain shall be assessed and pain intensity documented within 60 minutes ± 15 
minutes after parenteral drug therapy for inpatient and outpatient admissions. 
Pain shall be assessed and pain intensity documented with 90 minutes ± 15 
minutes after oral drug therapy for inpatient and outpatient admissions. 

b. Post operative pain is reassessed a minimum of every 4 hours during the first 24 
hours post operatively.  

D. Re-assessment must be performed in light of the patient’s entire clinical condition. 
Examples of scenarios that may not require additional assessment: 

a. Pain level less than or equal to patient reported acceptable level 
b. Patient declined additional assessment or intervention 

E. Pain intensity will be assessed prior to any repeated PRN pain medication administration. 
Pain management and plan of care: 
The RN will begin development of the pain management plan of care in collaboration with the 
patient, family, significant other, medical plan of care and interdisciplinary care team.  An 
evidence-based, individualized plan of care is created upon admission and updated as needed 
based on the diagnosis or patient’s individual needs (Gulanick & Myers, 2011). The 
individualized plan of care includes nursing interventions for pain management. 
 
1. A pain rating higher than the patient’s comfort goal will elicit intervention. Interventions will 

be initiated as ordered.  If pain persists, the physician will be notified.   
 
DOCUMENTATION:   

The following will be documented in the patient’s medical record: 
a. Patient/family (as applicable) teaching  
b. Type of scale used 
c. The comfort goal, when appropriate 
d. Initial and subsequent pain assessments 
e. Pain relief intervention 
f. Any interdisciplinary review 
g. Any modification of the treatment plan 

 
The following records/forms may contain this documentation: 

a. Admission Nursing Assessment 
b. Nursing Plan of Care 

19



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 

c. Unit Nursing Record or Patient Care Flow Sheet 
d. Medication Documentation Sheet (if applicable) 
e. Discharge Instructions 

 
REFERENCES: 

1. http://wongbakerfaces.org/ 
2. https://www.nlm.nih.gov/research/umls/sourcereleasedocs/current/LNC_FLACC/ 
3. https://www.uwhealth.org/healthfacts/parenting/7711.pdf 
4. https://com-jax-emergency-pami.sites.medinfo.ufl.edu/files/2015/02/Neonatal-Infant-

Pain-Scale-NIPS-pain-scale.pdf 
From Hockenberry, M. J., & Wilson, D. (2016). Wong's essentials of pediatric nursing 
(10th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Mosby. Reprinted with permission. 

5. From Merkel, S. I., et al. (1997). The FLACC: A behavioral scale for scoring 
postoperative pain in young children. Pediatric Nursing, 23, 293–297 

6. McCaffery M, Pasero C: Pain: Clinical Manual, p. 410 Copyright 1999 Mosby, inc.) 
7. Warden V, Hurley AC, Volicer L. Development and psychometric evaluation of the Pain 

Assessment in Advanced Dementia (PAINAD) scale.   J Am Med Dir Assoc. 
2003;4(1):9-15.  

 
CROSS REFERENCE P&P’s: 

1. Nursing Assessment/Reassessment 
2. Opioid Sedation Scale 

 
Approval Date 
NEC 4/5/17 
Board of Directors  
Last Board of Director Review  
 
 
Initiated: 12/99  
Revised: 4/00, 8/00, 11/00, 04/02, and 02/2006 SM, 10/07, 04/10 AW, 9/12 AW 4/13, 2/17la 
Reviewed: 05/11AW,  
 
  

20

http://wongbakerfaces.org/
https://www.nlm.nih.gov/research/umls/sourcereleasedocs/current/LNC_FLACC/
https://www.uwhealth.org/healthfacts/parenting/7711.pdf
https://com-jax-emergency-pami.sites.medinfo.ufl.edu/files/2015/02/Neonatal-Infant-Pain-Scale-NIPS-pain-scale.pdf
https://com-jax-emergency-pami.sites.medinfo.ufl.edu/files/2015/02/Neonatal-Infant-Pain-Scale-NIPS-pain-scale.pdf


NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum I: 
NEONATAL INFANT PAIN SCALE (NIPS) 

 
Use for infants less than one year of age  
The Neonatal infant Pain Scale (NIPS) is a behavioral scale and can be utilized with both full-
term and Pre-term infants. The tool was adapted from the CHEOPS scale and uses the behaviors 
that nurses have described as being indicative of infant pain or distress. It is composed of six (6) 
indicators: 
 

• Facial expression 
• Cry 
• Breathing patterns 
• Arms 
• Legs 
• State of arousal 

 
Each behavioral indicator is scored with 0 or 1 except “cry” which has three possible descriptors 
(scored 0.1.or 2). See the NIPS Scale for the description of infant behavior in each indicator 
group.  
 
Infants should be observed for one minute in order to fully asses each indicator.  
 
Total pain scores ran from 0-7.  The suggested interventions based upon the infant’s level of pain 
are listed below.  
 
Evaluate newborn for causes of pain versus the need for routine comfort measures.  
 
Pain indicated by: 

1. Birth injuries/trauma 
2. Maternal drug history indicating potential for neonatal withdrawal symptoms 
3. Painful procedures (i.e., IV starts, lab draws, tube placement, injections, 

circumcision, etc) 
 

Discomfort indicated by: 
1. Need for repositioning 

a. Reposition for correct body alignment, flexed midline position. 
2. Need for diaper or linen change 

a. Change diapers or clothing 
3. Signs of hunger (i.e., hand-mouth activity, sucking, rooting) 

a. Feed per orders or offer non-nutritive sucking 
 
 
 

21



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 

NEONATAL INFANT PAIN SCALE (NIPS) 
 Scores 0 1 2  
Facial  
Expression 

Relaxed Muscles 
Restful face 
Neutral expression  

 

Grimace 
Tight facial muscles, 
furrowed brow, chin, jaw 
(negative facial expression – 
nose, mouth, and brow) 

  

Cry 
  

No cry 
Quiet, not crying 

Whimper 
Mild moaning, intermittent 

 

Vigorous cry 
Loud scream, rising , 
shrill, continuous (note: 
silent cry may be 
scored if baby is 
intubated, as evidenced 
by obvious mouth, 
facial movement) 

 

Breathing  
Patterns 

Relaxed 
Usual pattern for this 
baby 

Change in breathing 
In drawing, irregular, faster 
than usual, gagging, breath 
holding 

  

Arms Relaxed / Restrained 
No muscular rigidity, 
occasional random 
movements of arms 

Flexed / Extended 
Tense, straight arms, rigid 
and/or rapid extension, 
flexion 

  

Legs Relaxed / Restrained 
No muscular rigidity, 
occasional random leg 
movement 

Flexed / Extended 
Tense, straight legs, rigid 
and/or rapid extension, 
flexion 

  

State of  
Arousal 
  

Sleeping / Awake 
Quiet, peaceful, 
sleeping or alert and 
settled 
  

Fussy 
Alert, restless, and thrashing 

 

 
  

 

         Total:     
 
Pain Level Intervention 
0-2 = mild to no pain none 
3-4 = mild to moderate pain Non-pharmacological intervention with a reassessment in 30 minutes 
>4 = severe pain Non-pharmacological intervention and possibly a pharmacological intervention 
  

22



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum II: 

Facial, legs, activity, cry, consol ability scale (FLACC)  
For children ages 2 months to 7 years. 
The FLACC Behavioral Pain Assessment Scale is a behavioral assessment that can be used to 
determine pain level when a child can't report his level of pain. It can be used in children ages 2 
months to 7 years. Five categories are scored from 0 to 2. The categories are then totaled to 
obtain the child's pain score. The pain score can range from 0 to 10; the higher the score, the 
greater the pain. See Addendum IV 

 
FLACC Behavioral Pain Assessment Scale19  

The FLACC Behavioral Pain Assessment Scale is a behavioral assessment that can be used to 
determine pain level when a child can't report his level of pain. It can be used in children ages 2 
months to 7 years. Five categories are scored from 0 to 2. The categories are then totaled to 
obtain the child's pain score. The pain score can range from 0 to 10; the higher the score, the 
greater the pain. 

 Scoring  

Category  0  1  2  

Face No particular 
expression or smile 

Occasional grimace or frown, 
withdrawn, disinterested 

Frequent to constant 
frown, clenched jaw, 
quivering chin 

Legs Normal position or 
relaxed 

Uneasy, restless, tense Kicking, or legs drawn up 

Activity Lying quietly, normal 
position, moves 
easily 

Squirming, shifting back and 
forth, tense 

Arched, rigid, or jerking 

Cry No cry (awake or 
asleep) 

Moans or whimpers, occasional 
complaint 

Crying steadily, screams 
or sobs, frequent 
complaints 

Consol 
ability 

Content, relaxed Reassured by occasional 
touching, hugging, or being 
talked to, distractible 

Difficult to console or 
comfort 

Total score:    

From Merkel, S. I., et al. (1997). The FLACC: A behavioral scale for scoring postoperative pain 
in young children. Pediatric Nursing, 23, 293–297. 
  

23



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum III: 
Wong-Baker FACES Pain Rating Scale  
For adults and pediatric patients older than 3 year of age or who have mild dementia or 
who do not understand the numeric pain scale. 

It's a self-report tool in which the patient points to the face that corresponds to his pain intensity. 
NIH uses the 0 to 10 scale. Explain to the patient what each face means before having him rate 
his pain. 
To use the FACES scale, explain to the patient that each face represents a person who feels 
happy because he has no pain or is sad because he has some or a lot of pain. Face 0 is very happy 
because he doesn't hurt. Face 1 hurts just a little bit. Face 2 hurts a little more. Face 3 hurts even 
more. Face 4 hurts a whole lot. Face 5 hurts as much as you can imagine, although you don't 
have to be crying to feel this bad. Ask the patient to choose the face that best describes how he is 
feeling.

 
Legs Normal position or 

relaxed 
Uneasy, restless, tense Kicking, or legs drawn up 

Activity Lying quietly, normal 
position, moves 
easily 

Squirming, shifting back and 
forth, tense 

Arched, rigid, or jerking 

Cry No cry (awake or 
asleep) 

Moans or whimpers, occasional 
complaint 

Crying steadily, screams 
or sobs, frequent 
complaints 

Consol 
ability 

Content, relaxed Reassured by occasional touching, 
hugging, or being talked to, 
distractible 

Difficult to console or 
comfort 

Total 
score: 

   

 
 

24



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum IV: 

Numeric Pain Scale 

A numeric pain scale is a self-report tool. To use it, the patient must have a concept of numbers 
and their relationship to each other. The scale can be used vertically or horizontally. The 
numbers range from 0 to 10, where 0 is no pain and 10 is the worst possible pain. The nurse 
should ask the patient to pick which number corresponds to her/his pain level 

 
  

25



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum V: 
Observational Pain Scale: 
Used for patients who are unable to communicate their pain level 
 
Instructions: Observe the patient for five minutes before scoring his or her behaviors.  Score the 
behaviors according to the following chart. The patient can be observed under different 
conditions (e.g., at rest, during a pleasant activity, during care giving, after the administration of 
pain medication). 
 
Categories 0 1 2 Score 
Face No particular 

expression or 
smile 

Occasional grimace, 
tearing, frowning, 
wrinkled forehead 

Frequent grimace, tearing, 
frowning, wrinkled forehead 

 

Activity (movement) Lying quietly, 
normal position 

Seeking  attention 
through movement or 
slow, cautious 
movement  

Restless, excessive activity 
and/or withdrawal reflexes 

 

Guarding Lying quietly, no 
positioning of 
hands over areas 
of body 

Splinting areas of the 
body, tense 

Rigid, stiff  

Physiology (vital signs) Stable vital signs Change in any of the 
following: 

• SBP>20 mm Hg 
• HR>20/min 

Change in any of the 
following: 

• SBP>30 mm Hg 
• HR>25/min 

 

Respiratory Baseline RR/SpO2 
Compliant with 
ventilator 

RR>10 above baseline, 
or 5% ↓SpO2 mild 
asynchrony with 
ventilator 

RR>20 above baseline, or 
10% ↓SpO2 mild 
asynchrony with ventilator 

 

TOTAL SCORE  
© Strong Memorial Hospital, University of Rochester Medical Center, 2004. 
 
Each of the 5 categories is scored from 0-2, which results in a total score between 0 and 10. 
Document total score by adding numbers from each of the 5 categories.   
Scores: 
0-2 indicate no pain 
3-6 moderate pain 
7-10 severe pain   
 
  

26



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL  
POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Pain Management and documentation 
Scope: Nursing  Manual:  CPM – Neurological, Sensory, Cognitive and 

Perceptual (NSC) 
Source: DON Acute/Sub Acute Services Effective Date: May 2, 2013 
 
Addendum VI 
 
Deep Breathing for relaxation with the option of peaceful imagery 
1. Breathe in slowly and deeply. 
2. As you breathe out slowly, feel yourself beginning to relax; feel the tension leaving your 

body. 
3. Now breathe in and out slowly and regularly, at whatever rate is comfortable for you.  
4. To help you focus on your breathing and breathe slowly and rhythmically: 

Breathe in as you say silently to yourself “In two three” 
Breathe out as you say silently to yourself “Out two three” 
Or 
Each time you breathe out, say silently to yourself a word such as peace or relax 

5. You may imagine that you are doing this in a place you have found very calming and 
relaxing for you, such as laying in the sun at the beach. 

6. Do steps 1 through 4 only once or repeat steps 3 and 4 for up to 20 minutes. 
7. End with a slow, deep breath. As you breathe out you may say to yourself, “I feel alert and 

relaxed.” 
Additional points: 

• This technique for relaxation has the advantage of being very adaptable. You may use it 
for only a few seconds or for up to 20 minutes. For example, you may do this regularly 
for 10 minutes twice a day. You may also use it for one or two complete breaths any time 
you need it throughout the day or when you awaken in the middle of the night.  

• If you use this technique for more than a few seconds try to get in a comfortable position 
in a quiet environment. 

• A very effective way to relax is to add peaceful images once you have performed steps 1 
through 4 above. Following are some ideas about finding your own peaceful memories. 

Something may have happened to you a while ago that can be of use to you now. Something 
may have brought you deep joy or peace. You may be able to draw on the past experience to 
begin you peace or comfort now. Think about these questions: 
• Can you remember any situation even when you were a child, when you felt calm, 

peaceful, secure, hopeful, or comfortable? 
• Have you ever laid back, kicked off your shoes, and daydreamed about something 

peaceful? What were you thinking of? 
• Do you get a dreamy feeling when you listen to music? Do you have any favorite music? 
• Do you have any favorite poetry that you find uplifting or reassuring? Are you now or 

have you ever been religiously active? Do you have favorite readings, hymns, or prayers?  
Even if you haven’t heard or thought of them for many years, childhood religious 
experiences may still be very soothing.  

Very likely some of the things you think of in answer to these questions can be recorded for you, 
such as your favorite music or a prayer read by your clergyman. Then you can listen to the 
recording whenever you wish. Or, if your memory is strong, you may simply close your eyes and 
recall the events or words. 

27



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
MEDICAL RECORDS 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
Title: Minors with Legal Authority to Consent 
Scope: District Wide Manual: Compliance, HOSPITAL WIDE 
Source: Compliance Officer Effective Date: May 1, 2017 
 

 
PURPOSE:  
 
To provide guidance to staff for circumstances in which a minor may have the legal 
authority to consent to various medical procedures, diagnosis, and treatment.  
 
DEFINITIONS: 
 
Capacity - a person has the ability to understand the nature and consequences of a 
decision and to make and communicate a decision, and includes, in the case of proposed 
health care, the ability to understand its significant benefits, risks, and alternatives 
(Probate Code Section 4609) 
 
Emancipated minor – a minor 14 years of age or older who has been granted, by the 
courts, release from the custody and control of his/her parent(s). Emancipated minors will 
have a Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) identification card, which states the 
individual is emancipated, or a court order declaring emancipation 
 
Minors – all persons under 18 years of age [Family Code Section (FCS) 6500] 
 
Self-sufficient minor – a minor 15 years or older, living separate and apart from his/her 
parent(s) or legal guardian, with or without their consent, who manages his/her own 
financial affairs, regardless of source of income 
 
POLICY: 
 
1) A minor may have the legal authority to consent to medical procedures, diagnosis, 

and treatment without parental consent, knowledge, or liability: 
a) When he/she has been emancipated by the courts [FCS 7002 and 7050 (e)(1)]; or 
b) When, in good faith, he/she has been deemed self-sufficient (FCS 6922); or 
c) While serving on active duty with any branch of the U.S. armed services [FCS 

7002 and 7050 (e)(1)]; or 
d) When he/she has entered into a valid marriage, whether or not such marriage has 

been terminated by dissolution or death of the spouse [FCS 7002 and 7050 
(e)(1)]; or 

e) For care related to the treatment or prevention of pregnancy, regardless of age or 
marital status (FCS 6925); or 

f) When he/she is 12 years or older, and may have come into contact with an 
infectious, contagious, or communicable disease that must be reported to the local 

28



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
MEDICAL RECORDS 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
Title: Minors with Legal Authority to Consent 
Scope: District Wide Manual: Compliance, HOSPITAL WIDE 
Source: Compliance Officer Effective Date: May 1, 2017 
 

 
health officer, or a related sexually transmitted disease, and prevention of sexually 
transmitted disease, including consent to HIV tests (FCS 6926); or 

g) When the minor is 12 years or older and has allegedly been raped, including 
information concerning and access to the “morning after” pill, and the collection 
of evidence with regard to the alleged rape (FCS 6927); or 

h) When he/she, of any age, has allegedly been sexually assaulted, including, but not 
limited to rape, sodomy, or oral copulation, and the collection of evidence with 
regard to the alleged assault (FCS 6928); 

i) When he/she is 12 years or older and requires certain mental health treatment or 
counseling in specific circumstances (consult Consent Manual pp. 2.24 – 2.25); 

j) When he/she is 12 years or older and requires certain drug- or alcohol- related 
treatment or counseling in specific circumstances (consult Consent Manual pp. 
2.25 – 2.26). 

 
2) Parents of a minor are not financially responsible for health care or related services 

for which the minor may legally give consent. 
 
3) A minor has the right to privacy in health information resulting from services to 

which the minor is authorized to consent, and often, even when the parent or guardian 
gives consent (CHA 2016 Consent Manual, p 2.21). 

 
4) Minor providing consent must have the capacity to make health care decisions. If 

there are basic capacity concerns, consult the primary care physician. 
 
 
PROCEDURE: 
 
1) If a minor presents with or without parent(s) or guardian, the minor may have legal 

authority to provide consent under circumstances listed above, including the ability to 
sign the Conditions of Admission. 
 

2) If a minor is unable to produce documents proving emancipation, the determination 
must be made as to whether the minor is self-sufficient, by completing the Self-
Sufficient Minor Information form (CHA form 2-1s). 

 
3) California does not consider “common law marriage” to be valid. 

 

29



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
MEDICAL RECORDS 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
Title: Minors with Legal Authority to Consent 
Scope: District Wide Manual: Compliance, HOSPITAL WIDE 
Source: Compliance Officer Effective Date: May 1, 2017 
 

 
4) When  a minor seeks healthcare services listed below, employees should ask the 

minor if he/she would like the medical record, health information, and bill to be kept 
private from the parent(s) or guardian: 
a) Family planning services 
b) Pregnancy treatment or prevention 
c) Abortion 
d) Sexual assault 
e) Sexually transmitted diseases 
f) Mental health outpatient treatment, with some limitations  
g) Substance abuse treatment 

 
5) All healthcare services not specifically listed in the policy section (1) (a – j) or 

procedure section (2) (a-g) require parent or guardian consent. 
 

6) If the minor patient requires this restriction: 
a) The parents should not be listed as the guarantor; and 
b) The bill should not be mailed to the parent’s home; and 
c) The minor patient should not be contacted at the parent’s home number; and 
d) The alert code “PRIVACY” should be entered into the HIS (see procedure “Minor 

Privacy Procedure – NIH Admission Services” for additional procedural details). 
 

7) If the minor does not require the legally available privacy as described in this policy, 
a note documenting the choice should be entered into the visit information. 

 
 
 
REFERENCES: 

1. California Hospital Association 2016 Consent Manual 
2. Family Code Section (FCS) 7002 and 7050 (e)(1) 
3. Family Code Section 6922 
4. Family Code Section 6925 
5. Family Code Section 6926 
6. Family Code Section 6927 
7. Family Code Section 6928 
8. Probate Code Section 4609 

 
 
CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 

1. Minor Privacy Procedure – NIH Admissions Services 
2. Guarantor Verification Procedure  - NIH Admissions Services 
3. Clinic Minor Privacy Procedure 

 

30



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
MEDICAL RECORDS 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
Title: Minors with Legal Authority to Consent 
Scope: District Wide Manual: Compliance, HOSPITAL WIDE 
Source: Compliance Officer Effective Date: May 1, 2017 
 

 
Approval Date 
Compliance Officer 4/6/2017 
Chief Executive  
  
Last Board of Directors Review  
 
Developed: 4/5/2017 
Reviewed: 
Revised: 
Supersedes: 
 
 
 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



1 
 

   
 

2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring-April 2017 
 

1. QAPI continues to receive and monitor data related to the previous CMS Validation Survey, including but not limited to, 
restraints, dietary process measures, case management, pain re-assessment, as follows: 
 
a. Advance Directives Monitoring.  

 

         
 

b. Positive Lab Cultures are being routed to Infection Prevention and each positive is being investigated as to source.  
Monitoring has been ongoing and reported through Infection Control Committee.  QAPI receives data.   

 
c. Safe Food cooling monitored for compliance with approved policy and procedure.  100% compliance since May 6, 

2013. 
 
d. Dietary hand washing logs have been reported and are at 100% compliance since May 6, 2013. 

 
 

e. QAPI continues to monitor dietary referrals and the number of consults completed within 24 hours.  
 
 
 

58



2 
 

 
 
 

f. Care plans reviewed by Case Management and interventions made to produce care plans. Progress has been made in  
developing individualized care plans. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

59



3 
 

 
g. Fire drill date, times, attendance and outcomes, smoke detector tests, and fire extinguisher test grids have been 

approved.  All fire drills were complete and compliant from May 6, through present.  
 
 

h. Pain Re-Assessment. NIH conducts pain re-assessment after administering pain medications and uses a 1-10 scale.  
 
 

 
    
 
 

 

60



4 
 

   

 
   Note: Due to small sample sizes in the ICU, results should be interpreted with caution for this unit. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

61



5 
 

Table 6. Restraint chart monitoring for legal orders. 
 Sept 

2016 
Oct 
2016 

Nov 
2016 

Dec 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Feb 
2017 

March 
2017 

Goal 

Restraint verbal/written 
order obtained within 1 hour 
of restraints 

1/1 
(100%) 

1/2 
(50%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

2/2 
(100% 

1/1 
(100%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

100% 

Physician signed order 
within 24 hours 

1/1 
(100%) 

1/2 
(50%) 

 

0/1 
(0%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

½ 
(50%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

0/1 
(0%) 

100% 

Physician Initial Order 
Completed (all areas 
completed and 
form/time/date noted/signed 
by MD and RN) 

0/1 
(0%) 

0/2 
(0%) 

0/1 
(0%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

0/2 
(0%) 

1/1 
(100%) 

0/1 
(0%) 

100% 

Physician Re-Order 
Completed (all areas 
completed and form 
time/date/noted/signed by 
MD and RN) 

N/A 2/4 
(50%) 

1/3 
(33%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

3/9 
(33%) 

0/1 
(0%) 

0/1 
(0%) 

100% 

Orders are for 24 hours 1/1 
(100%) 

5/6 
(83%) 

4/4 
(100%) 

4/4 
(100%) 

11/11 
(100%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

2/2 
(100%) 

100% 

Is this a PRN (as needed) 
Order 

0/1 
(0%) 

0/6 
(0%) 

0/4 
(0%) 

0/4 
(0%) 

0/11 
(0%) 

0/2 
(0%) 

0/2 
(0%) 

0% 

 
 
 

 
 

 

62



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 1 of 6 
 
CALL TO ORDER The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Peter Watercott, President. 

 
PRESENT Peter Watercott, President 

John Ungersma, MD, Vice President  
M.C. Hubbard, Secretary 
Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 
Phil Hartz, Member at Large 

 
ALSO PRESENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ABSENT 
 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
BISHOP UNION HIGH 
SCHOOL STUDENT 
CLINIC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
NURSING 
DEPARTMENT 
POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES 

 
Kevin S. Flanigan, MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 
Kelli Huntsinger, Chief Operating Officer 
Carrie Petersen, Chief Accounting Officer 
John Tremble, Interim CFO 
Maria Sirois, Chief Performance Excellence Officer 
Tracy Aspel, Chief Nursing Officer 
Sandy Blumberg, Executive Assistant 
 
Joy Engblade, MD, Chief of Staff 
Alison Murray, Interim Chief Human Relations Officer 
 
Mr. Watercott asked if any members of the public wished to comment on 
any items not on the agenda on any matter within the jurisdiction of the 
District Board (members of the audience will have an opportunity to 
address the Board on every item on the agenda.  Speakers are limited to a 
maximum of three minutes each).  No comments were heard. 
 
 
Chief Executive Officer Kevin S. Flanigan, MD, MBA reported Bishop 
Union High School (BUHS) is moving forward to establish a student 
health clinic on campus.  The proposed clinic would be staffed by a 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) practitioner experienced in 
adolescent healthcare, who would be on campus one or two days per week 
to provide healthcare services for students as allowed for by State law.  It 
is likely that the School Board will approve the proposed Clinic at their 
March 16th meeting, and in preparation for that approval this item is listed 
as an action item on the agenda for this meeting as well.  Discussion of 
the issues associated with this topic followed, which included input from 
NIHD practitioners and staff; Board members; the Executive Team; and 
members of the community.  At the conclusion of discussion it was 
suggested that this item be tabled until it is voted on by the BUHS Board.  
It was moved by Phil Hartz, seconded by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, and 
passed to table this agenda item to a future meeting, with John Ungersma 
MD voting against tabling. 
 
Chief Nursing Officer Tracy Aspel, RN called attention to the following 
Nursing Department policies and procedures being submitted for 
approval: 
 

63



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 2 of 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ANNUAL POLICY AND 
PROCEDURE 
APPROVALS 
 
 
 
GENERAL BUDGET 
ASSUMPTIONS FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2017/2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REQUEST FOR 
PROPOSAL (RFP) 
POLICY AND 
PROCEDURE 
APPROVAL 
 
 
 
 

1. Documentation of Patient Care 
2. Orientation to Nursing Departments 
3. Patient Valuables 
4. Acute/Sub acute Performance Improvement 
5. Patient Acuity 
6. Nursing QAPI 
7. Angel Flight 
8. Emergency Staffing 

It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve Nursing Department policies and 
procedures 1 through 8 as presented. 
 
Doctor Flanigan called attention to a list of Policies and Procedures 
presented for annual approval at this meeting, which were included as 
attachment "A" to the agenda for this meeting.   It was moved by M.C. 
Hubbard, seconded by Mr. Hartz, and unanimously passed to approve all 
policies listed on Attachment A to the agenda for this meeting. 
 
Interim Chief Financial Officer John Tremble presented general budget 
assumptions for the 2017/2018 fiscal year, in preparation for finalizing 
NIHD's next fiscal year budget.  The general budget assumptions included 
the following: 

- Changes to the Affordable Care Act (ACA) will not be budgeted 
for, due to the fact that they are impossible to predict 

- Intergovernmental Transfers will be allowed for in next year’s 
budget 

- No construction projects will be budgeted for in the upcoming 
fiscal year 

- Increases to the price of drugs; medical supplies; food; and 
employee salaries will be budgeted for 

- Annual depreciation for the 2017/2018 fiscal year is projected to 
be $4,224,900 

- Accrued interest on the 2009 Bonds in the amount of $1,772,886 
will be budgeted for, which will have the effect of generating cash 
flow 

It was moved by M.C. Hubbard, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve the 2017/2018 fiscal year general budget 
assumptions as presented. 
 
Chief Performance Excellence Officer Maria Sirois called attention to a 
Request for Proposal (RFP) Policy and Procedure which would establish a 
systematic approach for soliciting fair and impartial information and 
pricing from suppliers or vendors soliciting District business for products 
and services (for expenditures that exceed a price of $25,000).  Following 
review of the information provided it was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, 
seconded by Mr. Hartz, and unanimously passed to approve the proposed 
RFP Policy and Procedure process as presented.   
 

64



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 3 of 6 
USE OF THE NIHD 
HEALING GARDEN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ELECTION OF BOARD 
MEMBER TO 
COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
PURCHASE OF PMA 
PARTNERSHIP 
INTEREST 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EMPLOYEE DRUG AND 
ALCOHOL POLICY 
 
 
 
 
 
EMPLOYEE PAY SCALE 
UPDATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Doctor Flanigan asked the Board for clarification regarding the intended 
use of the NIHD Healing Garden.  The Garden was originally established 
as a place of sanctuary and rejuvenation for hospital patients and families, 
however in recent years requests have been made to use the garden for in- 
memoriam recognitions.  Following discussion on this matter it was 
determined that the garden will be used as a place for healing rather than a 
place to recognize those who have passed on.  The Board suggested that a 
new method for establishing memorials be considered, and that the NIHD 
Auxiliary be asked for input on this subject.  
 
Dr. Flanigan stated that an NIHD Board Member needs to be seated on 
the District’s Compliance and Business Ethics Committee, and Director 
Hubbard has volunteered to fill that spot.  It was moved by Doctor 
Ungersma, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and unanimously passed to 
approve M.C. Hubbard serving on the NIHD Compliance and Business 
Ethics Committee as suggested. 
 
Dr. Flanigan then requested authorization to act on behalf of the District 
to purchase the Pioneer Medical Associates (PMA) Partnership interest of 
Nickoline Hathaway, MD and Asao Kamei, MD at a market cost not to 
exceed $790,000, if the opportunity to purchase arises.  The proposed 
purchase would make NIHD the sole owner of the Pioneer Medical 
building located at 152 Pioneer Lane, allowing it to use the entire building 
for hospital business and patient care services.  It was moved by Mr. 
Hartz, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and unanimously passed to 
approve the purchase of the PMA partnership interest of Doctors Kamei 
and Hathaway as requested, for an amount not to exceed $790,000, if 
Doctors Kamei and Hathaway decide to sell at this time. 
 
Doctor Flanigan called attention to a proposed Employee Drug and 
Alcohol Policy consistent with the District’s commitment to maintaining a 
safe, healthy, and productive work environment and drug free work place 
for its' employees.  It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Ms. 
Hubbard, and unanimously passed to approve the proposed Employee 
Drug and Alcohol Policy as presented. 
 
Doctor Flanigan then called attention to a proposed update to the NIHD 
employee pay scale which would adjust District employee pay 
calculations to an average of Northern California and Rural California pay 
scales combined.  The proposed pay scale adjustment also includes 
calculations to account for the upcoming escalation of the State minimum 
wage, and the result will be an upward shift in pay for employees who are 
mainly in lower pay scale categories.  The fiscal impact of the update is 
estimated to be $674,000; 3 months of which will be realized during this 
fiscal year.  It was moved by Doctor Ungersma, seconded by Ms. 
Hubbard, and unanimously passed to approve the proposed NIHD 
employee pay scale update as presented. 
 

65



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 4 of 6 
 
STRYKER 
ORTHOPEDIC SUPPLY 
CONTRACT 
 
 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTION OF 
DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING 
AND LAB DIRECTOR 
 
 
ADOPT-A-HIGHWAY 
PARTICIPATION 
 
 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PATIENT EXPERIENCE 
COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
WORKFORCE 
EXPERIENCE REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHIEF OF STAFF 
REPORT 
 
 
 
 

 
Doctor Flanigan called attention to a proposed agreement for orthopedic 
supply products with Stryker Corporation, which would provide for both 
NIHD orthopedic surgeons using the same vendor for orthopedic surgery 
trauma equipment, while also realizing a significant cost savings for the 
District.  It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, 
and unanimously passed to approve the proposed contract with Stryker 
Corporation for orthopedic supply products as requested. 
 
Doctor Flanigan welcomed Mr. Larry Weber, incoming Director of 
Diagnostic Imaging and the Laboratory to NIHD, stating that Mr. Weber's 
arrival has already had a profound positive effect on both departments of 
the hospital.   
 
Doctor Flanigan informed the Board that NIHD has adopted two sections 
of Highway 395 in Bishop through the Adopt-A-Highway program, and 
hospital staff will volunteer and be trained to participate in quarterly 
cleanups of the highway in a community service effort.  Cleanups will 
take place on Fridays, beginning in the month of April. 
 
Mr. Watercott called attention to the Consent Agenda for this meeting, 
which contained the following items: 

- Approval of the minutes of the February 15, 2017 regular meeting 
- 2013 CMS Validation Survey Monitoring, March 2017 
- Financial and Statistical Reports for the period ending January 31 

2017 
It was moved by Mr. Hartz, seconded by Doctor Ungersma, and 
unanimously passed to approve all three consent agenda items as 
presented. 
 
Chief Performance Excellence Officer Maria Sirois reported that Patient 
Experience Committee structural role and responsibility changes will be 
discussed as part of the Chief of Staff Report. 
 
Doctor Flanigan called attention to the results of the recently conducted 
Employee Satisfaction Survey, which on the surface indicates that our 
overall employee satisfaction indicators look good, however upon closer 
inspection the findings reveal there are areas where improvement is 
needed.  The survey results for each Department will be reviewed with the 
managers, and an action plan will be developed in order to work on areas 
of potential improvement moving forward.   
 
On behalf of Chief of Staff Joy Engblade, MD, Doctor Flanigan reported 
following careful review and consideration and approval by the 
appropriate Committees, the Medical Executive Committee recommends 
approval of the following hospital wide policies and procedures: 

• Administration of Drugs:  Patient’s Own Medications 
• Closed-System Transfer Device (CSTD) 

66



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 5 of 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BOARD MEMBER 
REPORTS 
 
 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
 
 
 
 

• Drugs of Abuse Maternal and Infant 
• Misoprostol for Cervical Ripening 
• Opioids Waste Policy 
• Discharge Planning for the Hospitalized Patient 
• Airborne Infection Isolation Rooms (AIIR) 
• Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Policy 
• Skin Preparation in the Perioperative 
• Cleaning and Processing da Vinci Instruments, Accessories and 

Endoscopes 
• Fern Testing 
• Training and Competency in Fern Testing 

It was moved by Doctor Ungersma, seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and 
unanimously passed to approve all 12 hospital wide policies and 
procedures as presented. 
 
Chief Performance Excellence Officer Maria Sirois called attention to the 
hospital-wide Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement (QAPI) 
Plan annual evaluation for calendar year 2016.  She additionally called 
attention to the proposed hospital-wide QAPI Work Plan for Fiscal Year 
2017/2018, noting that antibiotic stewardship projects will continue; 
identification of sepsis projects will be introduced; and the ventilator 
associated pneumonia project will be removed from the previous plan 
(due to lack of necessity).  It was moved by Mr. Hartz, seconded by 
Doctor Ungersma, and unanimously passed to approve the QAPI Work 
Plan for fiscal year 2017/2018 as presented. 
 
Ms. Sirois also called attention to a proposed revision to the hospital-wide 
QAPI plan which involves a change being made to the internal 
organizational reporting structure within the NIHD Quality Department.  
It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Ms. Hubbard, and 
unanimously passed to approve the revision to the hospital-wide QAPI 
plan as presented.  The Board also expressed their appreciation of the hard 
work and exemplary dedication of Ms. Sirois, who will be leaving her 
position with the District in order to pursue academic interests. 
 
Mr. Watercott then asked if any members of the Board of Directors 
wished to report on any items of interest.  Director Ungersma provided an 
update on recent Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) 
legislative efforts, and also stated his interest in seeing NIHD obtain 
ACHD certification as soon as possible.   No other reports were heard. 
 
At 8:16 pm Mr. Watercott reported the meeting would adjourn to closed 
session to allow the Board of Directors to: 

A. Hear reports on the hospital quality assurance activities from the 
responsible department head and the Medical Staff Executive 
Committee (Section 32155 of the Health and Safety Code, and 
Section 54962 of the Government Code). 

 

67



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                                  March 15, 2017 
Regular Meeting                       Page 6 of 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RETURN TO OPEN 
SESSION AND REPORT 
OF ACTION TAKEN 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

B. Confer with Legal Counsel regarding pending and threatened 
litigation, existing litigation and significant exposure to litigation, 
3 matters pending (pursuant to Government Code Section 
54956.9). 

C. Discuss trade secrets, new programs and services (estimated 
public session date for discussion yet to be determined)(Health 
and Safety Code Section 32106). 

D. Discussion of a personnel matter, CEO contract terms and 
discussion (pursuant to Government Code Section 54757). 

 
At 9:21 pm the meeting returned to open session.  Mr. Watercott reported 
that the Board took action to increase the salary of the Chief Executive 
Officer to $325,000 effective July 1, 2017. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:22 pm. 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________________ 
Peter Watercott, President 

 
 
 
    Attest:   ________________________________________ 
                  M.C. Hubbard, Secretary 

68



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Point of Care Testing  

Scope: ER, ICU, Laboratory, Med Surg, 

Outpatient Clinics, PACU, Perinatal 

Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

 

     

I. PURPOSE 

CLIA ’88, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), and the State of 

California laboratory regulations require that all laboratories have on-going mechanisms 

to monitor accurate patient test management. Competency assessment is one method used 

to ensure that staff who performs Point of Care Testing (POCT) are proficient in test 

procedure(s) and reporting test result(s).  

All staff performing POCT at Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) may perform 

waived testing once they have been trained and demonstrate initial competency. 

Competency must be reassessed annually thereafter or as needed. 

 

II. PROCEDURE 

All staff are trained and evaluated for competency on each Point of Care (POC) test they 

perform including pre-analysis, analysis and post-analysis components. When new test 

methodology or instrumentation is instituted, employees are retrained and reevaluated. 

The POCT coordinator and department supervisors will develop a program for 

competency assessment and acceptability standards based on the training protocol, 

procedure manual, and departmental policies. Supervisors and managers will evaluate 

common group deficiencies, review current policies and procedures, and take corrective 

action to improve performance. 

 

A. Orientation and Training 

1. All trainees will read the policies and procedures on each POC test they perform 

2. Orientation/Training on the test system will be provided through video or 

demonstration 

3. Successful orientation will be evaluated by use of a written test and initial 

competency assessment 

4. Training will be provided by competent training staff 

5. Personnel qualified to perform training of waived tests are the POC coordinator 

and laboratory staff with at least 1 year experience in the laboratory setting and 

documented POCT training   

6. Orientation and training for each waived test is documented on a training 

checklist and filed in the POC department and kept for a minimum of 2 years; a 

copy of the document(s) is placed in employee personnel file 

   

B. Waived Competency 

1. Competence for waived testing is assessed at the time of orientation and annually 

thereafter or as needed 

2. Competency for waived testing is assessed using the following two methods per 

person per test: 

a. Observation of routine work, testing a known specimen/proficiency 

sample or QC testing 

b. Use of a written test specific to the test assessed 

69



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Point of Care Testing  

Scope: ER, ICU, Laboratory, Med Surg, 

Outpatient Clinics, PACU, Perinatal 

Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

 

     

3. Independent performance with no to little additional support is considered 

successful 

4. Successful performance is equal to or greater than 80% correct for the written test 

5. Competency is assessed by a qualified designee 

6. Personnel qualified to observe and assess competency are the POC coordinator, 

laboratory staff and clinical staff with at least 1 year experience in the laboratory 

setting and/or POCT with documented POC training and annual reassessment 

7. Competency is documented on a competency checklist and filed in the POC 

department and kept for a minimum of 2 years; a copy of the document(s) is 

placed in employee personnel file 

 

C. Proficiency Testing 

In addition to the regulatory requirements for annual competency assessment NIH has 

opted to follow best practice by performing proficiency testing. The POC department 

contracts with a CMS approved proficiency testing program that meets regulatory 

requirements for variety and frequency of testing. 

1. Proficiency samples are received bi-annually and are rotated among the staff who 

perform patient testing 

2. Testing personnel tests the proficiency samples the same way and the same 

number of times that patient samples are tested 

3. The staff who perform the proficiency testing and the medical director and 

technical coordinator sign attestations documenting that proficiency samples were 

tested in the same manner as patient specimens 

4. Testing personnel reports proficiency sample results the same way that patient 

samples are reported 

5. Proficiency records are kept for two years; proficiency performance evaluations 

are kept for 5  years 

6. Successful performance is equal to or greater than 80% correct 

7. A failure is unsuccessful performance in an event and warrants an investigation 

using the “Proficiency Testing Checklist for Corrective Action”; the investigation 

is documented and records are kept for 5 years 

 

III. CORRECTIVE ACTION 

Remedial training and reassessment of employee competency must occur when problems 

are identified with employee performance. 

 

A. Criteria for Remediation 

Authorized training staff will perform remedial training for the following reasons: 

1. When testing personnel fails an assigned proficiency test(s) 

2. When confirmatory testing to validate a result is performed and the results vary 

significantly from each other and instrument malfunction can be excluded 

3. When deficiencies are being observed during competency assessment; this will be 

at the discretion of the qualified designee 

70



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Point of Care Testing  

Scope: ER, ICU, Laboratory, Med Surg, 

Outpatient Clinics, PACU, Perinatal 

Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

 

     

4. When deficiencies are being observed during routine patient testing or are brought 

to the supervisor’s attention; this will be at the discretion of the director of 

nursing, the education coordinator and/or qualified POC staff 

5. When an individual fails to comply repeatedly with testing and/or QC 

requirements 

6. When testing staff is non-compliant with regulatory requirement of annual 

competency assessment after reasonable attempts of contact have been made by 

the director of nursing, the education coordinator and/or POC staff 

 

B. Retraining and Reassessment 

After determination that remediation is required, the following process will be 

initiated: 

1. Department supervisor and/or director of nursing will be notified that individual 

will require remedial training and that he/she is prohibited to perform waived test 

until remediation is complete 

2. Competent POC staff will review data and determine if instrument or test 

malfunction may have contributed to the problem 

3. Authorized training staff will conduct remediation training and will include: 

a. Review of QC logs to determine if staff performs QC correctly 

b. Review of test procedure 

c. Observation of QC testing 

d. When possible, observation of specimen collection; for example, if the 

waived test requires a finger-stick, the individual will perform a finger-

stick on the authorized trainer, a patient, or a volunteer; if a patient 

collection is to be observed, all relevant NIHD policies concerning patient 

consent and privacy should be observed 

e. Observation of testing two specimens; if possible this will be done using 

specimens that the trainer observed the testing staff collect; if not possible, 

an unknown specimen is acceptable 

f. For qualitative testing, testing staff will perform testing under observation 

of one unknown specimen that is negative and one that is positive 

g. Whenever possible, a confirmatory specimen will be collected and sent to 

the NIHD clinical laboratory for confirmation of test results 

h. All testing privileges will be reinstated after successful retraining and 

reassessment 

i. Remediation will be documented and filed in the POC department and 

kept for a minimum of 2 years; a copy of the document(s) is placed in 

employee personnel file 

 

C. Non-compliance 

When it has been determined that staff is non-compliant with scheduling remediation 

the following steps will be taken: 

71



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Training and Competency in Point of Care Testing  

Scope: ER, ICU, Laboratory, Med Surg, 

Outpatient Clinics, PACU, Perinatal 

Manual: Lab- Point of Care 

Source: POC Coordinator Effective Date: 

 

     

1. Notification of department supervisor, director of nursing and/or compliance 

officer that the individual may not perform any POCT effective immediately 

2. Privileges to perform waived testing will stay revoked until staff has complied 

with retraining requirements; this includes but is not limited to revoked access to 

the Accu-Check Inform II system through their badge 

 

IV. REFERENCES 

1. 2017 Comprehensive Accreditation Manual of Laboratory and Point-of-Care 

Testing, The Joint Commission, Standard WT.03.01.01 

2. Good Laboratory Practices for Waived Testing Sites, Morbidity and Mortality 

Weekly Report, CDC, November 11, 2005 / 54(RR13);1-25 

3. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CLIA ’88 Final Rules, Federal 

Register, 1992, Sections 493.1421, 493. 1423, 493. 1425, U.S. Government 

Printing Office, Wash. DC, Vol. 57, No. 40. February 28, 1992 

4. CADPH-Laboratory Field Services. Laws and Regulations Relating to Clinical 

Laboratories, Excerpts from the California Business and Professional Code and 

the California Code of Regulations, Berkeley, CA, January 1, 1991 

 

Approval Date 

Medical Director of the Laboratory 2/28/17 

CCOC 2/27/17 

Emergency Medical Care Committee 3/16/17 

Medical Services/ICU Committee 3/23/17 

Peri/Peds Committee 3/21/17 

Medical Executive Committee 4/4/17 

Board of Directors  

 

Developed: 2/17      

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supersedes: 

72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



Radiology Services Committee 

Critical Indicators 

2017 

1. Death within 24 hours of invasive procedure.

2. Admission to ED within 24 hours of invasive procedure.

3. Severe contrast reaction.

4. Code Blue in the department

5. Patient called back for having wrong procedure performed.

6. Staff concerns with breach of protocols.

Approvals 

Radiology Services Committee: 3/7/17 

MEC: 4/4/17

BOD: 

114




